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NO UNDERTAKINGS WERE FILED DURING THIS HEARING


Monday, November 7, 2007


--- On commencing at 9:00 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Butters, have you lost your counsel?  I didn't see her.  Sorry.


Good morning.  The Board is sitting today in connection with application filed by the Association of Major Power Consumers of Ontario with respect to review of the market rule amendment.  That matter was heard by the Board some time ago, and a decision was issued on April 10th.


On March 9th, the Board in that proceeding issued a procedural order, Procedural Order No. 2, at which time it found that the Association of Major Power Consumers of Ontario, AMPCO, and the Association of Power Producers of Ontario, APPrO, were eligible for costs.  


Both of those parties filed a cost claim on April 24th, the AMPCO one being supported by an affidavit of James Sidlofsky, the APPrO one being supported by an affidavit of Elisabeth DeMarco.


On October 29th, the Board issued a letter to all of the interested parties in this proceeding indicating that it wished to obtain further information with respect to these cost claims.  In that letter, it set out certain issues that it wished the parties to identify.  


I understand that on Friday, this past Friday, an e-mail was sent to the parties outlining the costs that had been claimed by each of these parties.


May we have the appearance appearances, please?

Appearances


MR. RODGER:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Mark Rodger appearing as counsel to the Association of Major Power Consumers of Ontario, and with me is Mr. Adam White, AMPCO's president.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. White.  Thank you.


MS. DeMARCO:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Elisabeth DeMarco on behalf of the Association of Power Producers of Ontario, and with me is Mr. David Butters, the president of APPrO.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Butters.  Thank you.  


MR. RATTRAY:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  John Rattray on behalf of the IESO, and with me is Ms. Paula Lukan.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Ms. Band.


MS. BAND:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Martine Band, counsel.  With me is Maureen Helt, also counsel, and Harold Thiessen, senior advisor.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  How do you wish to proceed, Ms. Band?


MS. BAND:  Mr. Chair, I am in your hands.  Perhaps, I have received -- 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rodger, do you want to go first?


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Submissions by Mr. Rodger


MR. RODGER:  Mr. Chairman, we have reviewed your correspondence of October 29th, 2007.  I have a handout I would like to take you through in a few moments.  But just by way of background, I think it is important for the Board to appreciate that the application that AMPCO brought involved a very significant effort on behalf of AMPCO and its advisors, who were required to process this application and all of the events surrounding it in a very, very short period of time.


I would add that the market rule amendment in question took almost a year to formulate.  So we were working from a base that itself was very extensive.


Also, I would point out that this was the first time a market rule amendment had come before this Board for a hearing and the issues before it.  And, as you know from the proceeding itself, the market rule amendment was very complex, not only the amendment and how it worked itself, but the broader issues of what was trying to be achieved, how it would be achieved, what the purported costs and benefits would be, and so on.


I would also point out that I think what made this proceeding rather unique was the extensive production that was ordered by the OEB and the 3,000-odd pages of information from the IESO which AMPCO had to review, again, in a very short period.  Some of it we had seen before, but a lot of it we hadn't, and that was a critical factor in the amount of effort that was needed.


The bottom line is that this case -- as the applicant required a full team effort to deal with the evidentiary, legal and procedural issues in the time frame involved. 


 I am sure if you asked the IESO about their resources that that organization had to expend, it would corroborate what AMPCO is saying about the effort involved.


Now, in your October 29th letter, sir, you identified the three issues that you would like a breakdown of what proportion of costs relate to the three issues in that letter.


We had difficulty allocating it to the three issues that you spelled out.  Really, they're all interrelated, but what I thought would be helpful is I prepared a one-page summary which -- I'm not sure if they have been handed out to you.  Ms. Band will do that.


I thought this might be a more useful way to explain the breakdown of AMPCO's efforts.


What I have done here is given you an approximate breakdown of the -- of AMPCO costs by work areas.  You will see that I have divided the total effort into five distinct phases, and I think this might be, I hope, the most helpful in terms of allocating what time was put where.  


The first area I am calling the background review of the market rule amendment, the IESO process and the preparation of AMPCO's application and supporting materials which were filed on February 9th, 2007.


This section of the work involved reviewing AMPCO's file up to that time, and this was both AMPCO's materials and the IESO materials in AMPCO's possession.  There was also background preparation about referring a market rule to the Board, the Board's requirements, the legal basis and so on.  


There was quite a lot of effort just in understanding the long chain of events in the IESO process which led up to the market rule and trying to put that puzzle together in the context of an application.


Then of course there was the drafting of the application itself, the selection of appropriate supporting materials, and so on, and you can imagine that this required multiple meetings not only with the client, but with the consultant, Mr. Clark, who was AMPCO's representative on the IESO consultation process.  You see the breakdown there of legal counsel and consultants.  


By the way, this is not an exhaustive list of all the hours.  I didn't include the student time, for example, but this gives you a bulk of where the time was spent.


The second area of work was related to the OEB procedural orders and the supplementary IESO productions of information, the review of evidence submitted by other parties and the IESO, and the preparation of supplementary AMPCO evidence.


The Board will recall that there was a series of correspondence back and forth on a number of issues from costs and who would be responsible for costs, to what information the IESO had originally produced and further production, quite a bit of correspondence from February to the end of March.  


The Board decided at the end that the IESO's production would be expanded, and, as I said at the outset, the result was some 3,000 pages of additional material and about four binders, and the relevance of this production would be dealt with later in the process.


Various intervenors and the IESO had also filed evidence.  These materials had to be reviewed, considered and AMPCO's response factored in.  So you have a tremendous amount of material that AMPCO had to deal with in a very short time frame.  As you know, there is only 60 days from the date you receive the application until you had to render a decision, and AMPCO needed a lot of support from different areas to deal with this reality, not only on the substantive IESO questions and process, but also on the legal issues that surrounded that.


So we needed a team, and we put a team together to move this forward.


The third area is what I'm calling hearing and witness preparation, and this was the actual preparing for the oral hearing.  I am also -- when I refer to preparing for the oral hearing, I am also referring to the 32-page written submission on the relevance question, which AMPCO filed on March 26th - and that is the relevance of the 3,000 pages of IESO material that the Board ordered produced - and on the substantive question about the impact of the market rule itself, which was prepared and spoken to orally by Dr. Murphy during the hearing.


I would also point out, though, that the witness preparation around this case wasn't just for Dr. Murphy.  It was also for Mr. White and Mr. Clark.  Now, in view of the Board's decision that the IESO's process was not relevant for the actual hearing, of course the Board never heard any of that evidence that was prepared, but, nonetheless, there was quite a bit of work done for that part of the case that was not ultimately heard, but the work was still there.


So there was the actual preparation for the hearing itself.  Fourthly, of course, there was the attendance before the Board, the two days, one day for the preliminary matter on relevance and one day for the hearing, and of course there was the – finally, the fifth area, the argument in-chief and AMPCO’s reply argument.  You may recall that those reply argument and the argument in-chief were both fairly extensive.  That was, again, part of the nature of the complexity and trying to convey this in a clear and straightforward way was a challenge.  


I would also add, sir, that the IESO has had no objections to AMPCO's claim, and I believe this also reflects their experience, that there was a significant amount of effort involved in this and the view that AMPCO's claim was reasonable and commensurate with the effort involved in this proceeding.  


So to summarize, sir, this was the first hearing of its kind before the Board.  There was a huge volume of materials in a very short time line.  You will be aware the production of documents generated some extremely serious issues for AMPCO and its members and a team effort was required to work within the timelines to convey these matters to you.  


This is not just AMPCO.  I think you can see from the cost award of APPrO that they also had to put a very significant effort into this case, not as much as AMPCO which I think is understandable since we were the applicant, but it is not like there was one area of costs that are out of line with what others.  AMPCO acted responsibly throughout this proceeding and we believe the cost claim should be approved.  


Of course, what you see in AMPCO's cost claim is only a fraction of the total costs that AMPCO has actually had to expend in this process not only in the actual hearing itself because of the current counsel and consultant tariff, but I can tell you that there were also hundreds of additional hours involved in the IESO's process leading up to the market rule both in terms of Mr. White's time and Mr. Clarke's time, who was AMPCO's representative.  


So the totality of the whole market rule amendment was very, very significant for AMPCO, probably the single most significant activity they were involved in in the year this was undergoing.  


So for all of these reasons we hope that has clarified a breakdown of where the effort was and AMPCO would be grateful if this matter could be brought to a close and they receive their award at the earliest opportunity.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rodger, on that point, can you tell me the costs claimed by you on April 24th, what percent would those be of the total costs that your client would be paying your firm?  


MR. RODGER:  Ballpark, I would say less than half.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.  


MR. RUPERT:  I have a question around just a fact.  I just wanted to make it clear to the parties here kind of why I think we've got this rather unusual process and that's only because of the size of the overall fees.   I thought you would be interested in sharing, you don't have to respond, but just kind of why this has caught some of our attention. 


We asked our Staff to go back and look at the cost claims at the OEB over the last year and the only information we've got that is kind of probably current and up-to-date is for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2007.  


If this case had been done and settled in that fiscal year, it looks like it would be the fourth largest cost claim.  NGEIR was number 1 at a million dollars a bit.  The generic gas DSM was 682,000.  The Union 2006 rates was 607,000, and Hydro One's 2006 distribution rates was 294,000, about exactly equal to what the total claims on this were. 


So I don't need a response, but I thought that would be helpful to you to understand why this has caught our attention given the size and complexity of some of those large hearings that appear above this hearing in that list I just mentioned.  


The only question I have then is, Mr. Rodger, is around the consultants.  I understand your list and I see how you have laid out the effort.  Maybe it's the perspective you get when you sit listening to a hearing.  But in terms of the I will call them two Section 33(9) issues which while the question of consistency with the Act and the discrimination, undue discrimination, I was interested in if you have any sense of what proportion of Mr. Clarke's and Dr. Murphy's time were devoted to those two issues as compared to the question of the process by which the rule had come to pass and the day-ahead market and the day-ahead commitment process and that whole area.  


Do you have any sense at all as to how much of their time was spent on those 33(9) issues as opposed to the other issue?  


MR. RODGER:  Well, I would say for Dr. Murphy, I would say probably 80 percent of his time was devoted to the issues you are speaking of.  And Mr. --


MR. RUPERT:  The 33(9)?  


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  For Mr. Clarke maybe 20 percent.  Mr. Clarke focussed largely on helping AMPCO understand some of the process issues.  


MR. KAISER:  Ms. DeMarco.  

Submissions by Ms. DeMarco


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Before we proceed I've got two documents that may be of assistance to you and I wonder if you would like to have exhibit numbers or...


MR. KAISER:  Yes can we mark, Ms. Band, first of all, the document that went out on Friday with your e-mail. 


MS. BAND:  Yes.  Mr. Chair, that document can be marked as Exhibit K.1.  

EXHIBIT NO. K.1:  EMAIL DATED NOVEMBER 2, 2007


MR. KAISER:  K.1?  


MS. BAND:  K1.  Then we can mark the AMPCO document that was handed out this morning as K.2.  

EXHIBIT NO. K.2:   AMPCO DOCUMENT


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  


MS. BAND:  And with respect to the two documents that were just handed out, in relation to APPrO, the document entitled “Fees in the context of procedural requirements” can be marked as K.3.  

EXHIBIT NO. K.3:  APPrO DOCUMENT ENTITLED "FEES IN THE CONTEXT OF PROCEDURAL REQUIREMENTS"


MS. BAND:  And the document titled “Approximate breakdown of costs” can shall marked as K 4.  

EXHIBIT NO. K.4:  APPrO DOCUMENT ENTITLED "APPROXIMATE BREAKDOWN OF COSTS"


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  


MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Chair, I have nothing formal to submit but rather wanted to make myself available to questions.  I thought, however, I would attempt to group our costs along the timelines and procedures of this matter and also attempt more of an art than a science to break down our fees in relation to the three categories that Ms. Band requested and the Board requested in its procedural order.  


So I will start first with what is now Exhibit K.4 which is a document entitled the approximate breakdown of costs in relation to the issues identified by the Board.  


What I have done -- as you can imagine, there are a number of docket entries that cover a host of activities.  I have tried to, where a number of activities were either dealing with the process or the test to be applied or the market rule, in most instances have given them equal value, if it applied to more than one.  So you can see that it's not with scientific accuracy that I can give you these numbers but with some estimation. 


Certainly in terms of the process-type issues, specifically the process by which the market rule amendment was made by the IESO, as you will recall, we were simply responding to the issues that were raised by other parties relating to the process.  And the costs were in the range of $15,000.  


In terms of the test to be applied by the Board on the review of the market rule amendment, this is somewhat overlapping with the submissions on relevance and really got more intense as those submissions became quite prominent in how the case would go, the direction that the case would go on March 26th.  So those costs are in around the range of $17,000.  


The actual substantive issues pertaining to the tests to be applied, that is, whether the market rule was consistent with the purposes of the Act and/or unjustly discriminated in favour of, or against, a market participant, the costs for our consultants fall squarely within that category.  So all of his costs, that was Mr. Cliff Hammel's costs, fall within that category and the legal costs are in around the range of $35,000.  


Then I've got another general category which includes things like the original cost submissions that the Board asked for when it asked who and how should costs be paid  going into this application and then the notice of application and those are around two thousand dollars.  


So that is an attempt to be responsive to your request to break down the costs.  


Just in response to your question, Mr. Rupert, to AMPCO.  You had asked -- or actually, sorry, it was you Mr. Chair you asked what proportion of these costs -- 


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  


MS. DeMARCO:  -- were recovered and certainly I am informed by Mr. Butters that particularly in relation to our costs, it was approximately 25 percent of our costs were recovered through this process.  


I want to highlight that, because it's a bit of a sensitive point.  I cannot recover costs as senior counsel.  I was three months shy of eleven years at the bar at that point, so, in effect, Mr. Butters was penalized for that.


MR. KAISER:  Subsidizing you.


MS. DeMARCO:  Well, penalized or subsidized.  It depends on your perspective, I guess.


MR. KAISER:  When you say 25 percent, Mr. Rodger is up to 50 percent.  The total bill that your client sent to you was in fact 75 percent higher than the amount that you were able to claim in this process?


MS. DeMARCO:  The total bill that I sent to the client was 75 percent higher than I was able to claim in this process.


MR. KAISER:  I just want to make sure we are comparing... 


MS. DeMARCO:  Let me just confirm.


MR. KAISER:  Is that correct?  It seems strange there would be such a difference.


MS. DeMARCO:  I just wanted to ensure it didn't include any divisional court time, but it has been confirmed it is this process.  So it's a small fraction of the actual bill that was -- that we're able to recover through the process.


MR. KAISER:  So the total costs that you spent on this process is probably equal to what AMPCO spent, it sounds like?


MS. DeMARCO:  Well, I've got both total costs in my materials and I think we're still quite a bit lower.  The total bill, I can tell you that exactly, if you want.


MR. RODGER:  While my friend is doing that, Mr. Chairman, if I can help you, I gave you kind of a ballpark estimate.  I would be happy to give you the exact numbers, if that would be of assistance to the Board.


MR. KAISER:  It would be helpful to me, because one of the things we're always concerned about here is whether there is an incentive to keep these costs reasonable, and, in my view, there is an incentive if we're only paying 50 percent of the real costs, because it isn't entirely a free ride.  So I've never -- we've never heard had this information before and this is a bit of an unusual proceeding, and it allows us to get a little more information on this subject, which is a growing concern of the Board.


MS. DeMARCO:  I have those numbers if you'd like.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MS. DeMARCO:  I can make those available for the Board, subject to my client...  The total fees were $191,326.00, with tax and disbursements, photocopying and whatnot, bringing the total bill to $209,591.99.


MR. KAISER:  You are seeking recovery of, what, 99,000?


MR. RUPERT:  Excluding the consultant, you say you're seeking recovery of 70,000 pre disbursements, pre GST?


MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.  I just want to emphasize that is strictly my bill, whereas I can give you the numbers for LECG, the consultant, as well.


MR. KAISER:  The 190,000, does that include LECG?


MS. DeMARCO:  No, it does not.


MR. KAISER:  That is just legal fees?


MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  So your legal fees that you are claiming in this process are 70,000, as Mr. Rupert says; correct?


MS. DeMARCO:  The legal fees that we're eligible to claim, yes.


MR. KAISER:  The amount of legal fees billed by your firm to APPrO is $190,000?


MS. DeMARCO:  A little north of that, yes, $200,000 with the disbursements and whatnot.


MR. KAISER:  Right.  $209,000 with the disbursements, all right.


MS. DeMARCO:  I can get you the LECG numbers.


MR. KAISER:  No, that's all right.  That is sufficient.  Do you have the comparable data, Mr. Rodger?


MR. RODGER:  Yes, Mr. White actually had those figures with him.  So I can give you the entire range of fees right from day 1.  Legal -- and this excludes disbursements -- legal $319,624.00; Henley International, that is Dr. Murphy's firm, just under $17,000; and Mr. Clarke's firm, about $21,000.  


So in total, fees claimed is $368,499.00, and the sum of potential OEB costs recovery is about $160,000.


MR. KAISER:  On the legal fees, your legal fees billed to your client of $319,000 and the legal fees that you're claiming here are $104,000?


MR. RODGER:  $121,000.  I am advised that this number excludes GST and disbursements, so it may not be exactly right, but it is around that range, $115,000 to $121,000.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rodger, just to be clear, these are your fees for the OEB proceeding?  It doesn't include fees that might have taken place during the earlier --


MR. RODGER:  That's right.  It does include kind of the lead up to the application, yes.


MR. KAISER:  Nothing on appeals?


MR. RODGER:  No.


MR. KAISER:  Just the OEB proceeding?


MR. RODGER:  Just the OEB process.


MS. NOWINA:  The same is true of you, Ms. DeMarco?


MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.  That's right.  The appeals are not covered in those fees.


MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Rodger, just not to get into detail, but it is important, I think.  You have mentioned $115,000.  The spreadsheet that Ms. Band sent out on Friday had, we thought, actually captured your submission, and I want to make sure, if it doesn't, where the difference is. 


You will see we have hours for you and your colleagues and the rates that -- OEB-approved rates.  These numbers come to almost $105,000, I believe come straight off your submission.  You just used a different number and I want to make sure we've got the same information.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rodger, your number includes GST and disbursements? 


MR. RODGER:  Just bear with me.  Perhaps Mr. White and I could just have a moment.  He might be able to advise me where his --


MR. RUPERT:  The reason I ask is because the total of that, the total, if you include the 104 and the 43 plus disbursements and GST, which are not on that spreadsheet, comes precisely to the number that I believe you claimed in total, 162,418.  So I want to make sure we're not working with different numbers or we have misunderstood your submission.


MR. RODGER:  I think Mr. White has perhaps bundled some other things in these numbers.


MS. DeMARCO:  I just have a point of clarification.  Mr. Butters has just gone back to his spreadsheet and done the calculations on pure legal costs, and the amount claimed is 33 percent of legal costs that were actually charged.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  It sounds like you're in that range, as well, Mr. Rodger?


MR. RODGER:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Around 33 percent?


MS. DeMARCO:  I'm not certain if you would like me to then go on to walk through when those costs were spent in relation to the procedural time lines of this matter.  I am happy to do that.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Please go ahead.


MS. DeMARCO:  I am referring now to the coloured diagram that's Exhibit K.3.  You will see the top numbers are our fees.  The bottom numbers are consultant fees.


So up into the early stages where we got into receiving evidence, it was a fairly inexpensive endeavour, totalling about $6,000, $7,000 total.  The evidence preparation, speaking to the substance of the issues, is, and in my view in submissions, should be one of the major focusses of our fees and efforts, and you can see the costs for the filing of evidence total in or around $28,000.


Moving on, there were a number of procedural issues relating to specifically disclosure that added some additional fees and costs into the process.  And where you see a noteworthy distinction is following the March 26th filing of AMPCO, which really had us uncertain of the case that we had to respond to, and we really did have to prepare to do two very different hearings, one based on the substance of the issues in the test set out in section 33(9) and another where various procedural issues would be on the table.  


The case law is different.  The associated scope of the hearing is different, and the nature of the cross-examination is entirely different.


So that's where you see a very significant investment of fees in a very short period of time, a number of all-nighters and a whole team being called in to review all documents and prepare binders and materials, which I understand were helpful to the Panel, in the context of really an eight-day period.  


So during that eight days, we've got the total of -- let me just try and do this now, 17, plus another 5, that's 23, almost $25,000 in the context of that period, and very much trying to ensure that we were preparing the right case for the proceeding.


So that's an outline.  If you have any further questions, I am more than happy to answer them.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Rattray, do you have any response or submissions on this?

Submissions by Mr. Rattray


MR. RATTRAY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  The IESO is supportive of the cost claims as submitted by APPrO and AMPCO.  We had an opportunity to work with counsel.  You will recall, Mr. Chairman, that we wrote to the Board in response to the initial procedural order on costs requesting an additional period of time to enable us to engage in further discussions, obtain breakdowns and clarifications, additional receipts.  


They were responsive to our request.  We received this additional material.  We reviewed it in the context of our own costs and we concluded that the cost claims being advanced were reasonable and reflective of the tremendous amount of effort that was required by all parties to process a considerable volume of material in a very short time frame.  


So the IESO is supportive of the cost claims as submitted.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, sir.  Ms. Band, do you have anything?  


MS. BAND:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  No, we have no submissions.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  


MR. RUPERT:  Can I ask Mr. Rattray one question?  I should know this but I have forgotten.  At the IESO, you have your own costs, of course, that you incurred for this, and these costs, costs approved here will go through to the IESO.  Does that get included in your fee submission that comes before the Board, or does that, is that just passed through?  


What is the process for getting this on to consumers' bills?  


MR. RATTRAY:  Well, it comes out of the IESO's budgeted monies.  So to the extent that we are able to fund it out of existing accounts, it is done so.  When we prepare a budget for each year, we allocate a certain amount of money for regulatory proceedings and that includes the payment of costs.  


So to the extent that we had to find additional monies, we had to economize elsewhere in the organization. 


MR. RUPERT:  I know you're not the financier, but it sounds like something we won't see again on the next submission for fees, probably; you have been able to deal with it through your existing budgets?  


MR. RATTRAY:  Yes.  


MR. RUPERT:  Okay, thanks.  


MR. KAISER:  We will take the morning break at this point and come back in 15 minutes.  


--- Recess taken at 9:35 a.m. 


--- Upon resuming at 9:40 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  I apologize for cutting the break short, but we were advised counsel had appearances elsewhere, so we thought we would come back as soon as we could.

DECISION


MR. KAISER:  The Board has heard this morning submissions from the Association of Major Power Consumers of Ontario and the Association of Power Producers of Ontario with respect to certain cost claims that were filed by the two organizations on April 24th.  This is in connection with the application brought by AMPCO for a review of the market rule amendment that the Board decided on April 10th.


Those cost claims are in the record and they are, in the case of AMPCO, supported by an affidavit of James Sidlofsky, and in the case of APPrO supported by an affidavit of Elisabeth DeMarco.


As indicated this morning, the Board's concern with these cost claims relates to their size compared to other larger proceedings, which Mr. Rupert has referred to, particularly NGEIR, the generic gas DSM hearing and the Union 2006 rate case, given the relatively short length of the hearing in this case.


In response to the Board's letter requesting further submissions on this matter - that's the letter of October 29th - both parties have submitted a detailed breakdown of their costs, the AMPCO one being in the record as Exhibit K.2 and the APPrO one being Exhibits K.4 and K.3.


The Board accepts the submissions of the parties that while these costs are substantial, this nonetheless is an unusual case.  It's the first time this type of application has been heard by the Board.  There was a substantial production of documents ordered by the Board, that required the parties to devote considerable resources to.  There was a relatively tight time frame in this case, the 60-day review period.


Accordingly, we understand that these circumstances were unusual.  Of course, the hearing would have been more concise had it been restricted to Section 33(9), but there was a process issue that was raised by AMPCO, and the Board allowed that to proceed at least to the discovery level.  This undoubtedly raised costs beyond the ordinary and reasonable level.  It does highlight, of course, the need for the Board at the beginning of these proceedings to more tightly scope matters in order that there be greater discipline on costs.


As to the discipline over costs, we found it instructive to hear from both of these parties that the actual costs being recovered by counsel through this process was only one-third of the actual amount billed to the client.


Accordingly, we will allow the costs claimed.  These amounts are set out in Exhibit K.1.  In the case of AMPCO, that would be $148,160, which goes to $162,418 when we add in GST and disbursements.  In the case of APPrO, that amount is $99,169, which goes to $111,801 when we add in disbursements and GST.


Any questions?


MS. DeMARCO:  I have one, Mr. Chair, reluctantly at the risk of being sheepish.


How might we treat the costs of appearances today?


MR. KAISER:  You can recover those costs through this process.  You can add them on to the amount submitted.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  At the usual rates.  Thank you.


MR. RUPERT:  Eleven years yet?


MS. DeMARCO:  I think that's next month.


MR. KAISER:  That means there is a birthday coming up.  Is that helpful?

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 9:45 a.m. 
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